
Panel Packet 
June 13, 2023 

  

AB2849 
Promote Ownership by Workers for 

Economic Recovery Act   
Study Panel 



AB2849 Study Panel 
PANEL NOTICE/AGENDA 

Meeting Time/Place 
June 13, 2023, at 3:00 – 5:00 PM 

Virtual only meeting via Zoom 
This is a public meeting and the public may attend virtually. 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86001512695?pwd=elJzZUpLZVNCcGNKVDJSUTBMdnVCZz09 
Passcode: 461917 
Or Telephone: 

Dial: 
USA 215 446 3656 US Toll 
USA 888 363 4734 US Toll-free 

Conference code: 203062   
(For assistance, log in and raise hand or contact Communications@Labor.CA.GOV or (916) 653-9900) 

Virtual participation: 
To view or provide public comment via webinar, use the link below and use the raise-hand feature 
during public comment to be called on.   

Agenda: 
1. Call to order by acting chairperson (5 minutes) 

• Roll call
• Action to approve June Panel Meeting Agenda

Jessica Pitt, LWDA, Assistant 
Secretary Healthcare Workforce 

2. Select a chairperson (5 minutes) 
• Action to select chairperson

Jessica Pitt, LWDA, Assistant 
Secretary Healthcare Workforce 

3. Bagley-Keene and ethics training (30 minutes) John Cumming, LWDA, Assistant 
General Counsel 

4. Review draft Panel Scope of Work (15 minutes) 
• Action to approve Panel Scope of Work

Jillien Davey, LWDA, Policy and Data 
Research Data Specialist 

5. Review draft Study Scope of Work (30 minutes) 
• Action to approve Study Scope of Work

Jennifer Sturdy, LWDA, Deputy 
Secretary of Evaluation 

6. Review proposed Study Partner (15 minutes) 
• Action to approve proposed Study Partner

Jennifer Sturdy, LWDA, Deputy 
Secretary of Evaluation 

7. Agree on schedule, location(s), and next meeting date 
• Proposed location(s)

Jillien Davey, LWDA, Policy and Data 
Research Data Specialist 

8. Opportunity for panel members to request agenda items for future 
panel meetings 

Jillien Davey, LWDA, Policy and Data 
Research Data Specialist 

9. Public Comment on Non Agenda Items (5 minutes) Chairperson 
10. Public meeting adjourns 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86001512695?pwd=elJzZUpLZVNCcGNKVDJSUTBMdnVCZz09
mailto:Communications@Labor.CA.GOV


Meetings are open to the public except when specifically noticed otherwise in accordance with the Open 
Meeting Act. All times when stated are approximate and subject to change without prior notice at the 
discretion of the Panel unless listed as “time certain.” Items may be taken out of order to maintain a 
quorum, accommodate a speaker, or for convenience. Action may be taken on any item listed on this 
agenda, including information-only items. The meeting may be canceled without notice. 

Members of the public can address the board during the public comment session. Public comments will 
also be taken on agenda items at the time the item is heard and prior to the Board taking any action on 
said items. Total time allocated for public comment may be limited at the discretion of the board chair. 

Members of the public may, but are not obligated to, provide their names or personal information as a 
condition of observing or participating in the meeting. When signing into the Zoom platform, 
participants may be asked for their name and email address. Participants who choose not to provide 
their names will need to provide a unique identifier such as their initials or another alternative, so that 
the meeting moderator can identify individuals who wish to make public comment; participants who 
choose not to provide their email address may utilize a fictitious email address like in the following 
sample format: XXXXX@mailinator.com or by calling in (instructions included in the Zoom meeting link 
above). 

This Notice/Agenda of Panel Meeting and related documents are available on the LWDA website at 
https://www.labor.ca.gov/promote-ownership-by-workers-for-economic-recovery-act-panel. Please 
continue to access the LWDA website for current and updated information. 

  

https://www.labor.ca.gov/promote-ownership-by-workers-for-economic-recovery-act-panel/
mailto:XXXXX@mailinator.com


  
AB2849 Study Panel 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Panel Meeting of June 13, 2023 

PRELIMINARY PANEL MATTERS 

Draft - Panel Statement of Work 

Draft - Study Statement of Work 

Draft – Proposed Study Team 

OTHER MATTERS 

Ethics Training 



DRAFT Panel Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

1 

Objectives 
The Promote Ownership by Workers for Economic Recovery Act (AB 2849, codified in Labor Code 
sections 10000-10010) establishes a panel to study the creation of an Association of Cooperative Labor 
Contractors, among other potential activities, to facilitate the growth of democratically-run high-road 
cooperative labor contractors. 

AB 2849 requires the study to consider how to:   
(1) Advance the goals of the Future of Work Commission within the association. 
(2) Incentivize the growth of the association and its members. 
(3) Promote tenets of democratic worker control, including, but not limited to, uniform hiring and 

ownership eligibility criteria, worker-owners working most hours worked, most voting ownership 
interest being held by worker-owners, most voting power being held by worker-owners, and 
worker-owners exercising their vote on a one-person, one-vote basis. 

(4) Ensure that the association’s members offer high-road jobs, which include, but are not limited to, 
jobs with the right to organize and participate in labor organizations and jobs with minimum labor 
standards, such as a minimum wage in excess of the otherwise applicable minimum wage, a 
compensation ratio between the highest and lowest paid employees, minimum health 
expenditures, minimum retirement expenditures, and protections for individuals who have gone 
through the criminal justice system. 

AB 2849 requires the panel, in preparing the study, to engage in a stakeholder process by which it consults 
with, at a minimum, organized labor, worker cooperatives, and business groups that can assess the 
opportunities and challenges associated with expanding workplace democracy.   

Budget and Timeline 
The panel has a total proposed budget of $800,000 to fund the study and the panel (see Budget Change 
Proposal here). Funds may be made available July 1, 2023 pending Legislature approval and proposed 
activities must be completed by June 30, 2024. 

Composition 
Member Type Panel Member Name, Affiliation 

LWDA Secretary Designee (Ex Officio) Jessica Pitt, Labor and Workforce Development Agency 
(LWDA) Assistant Secretary Healthcare Workforce 

Director of GO-Biz Designee (Ex Officio) Tara Lynn Gray, GO-Biz Office of Small Business Advocate 
Director 

Appointee (Speaker of Assembly) Ra Criscitiello, SEIU UHW 
Appointee (President pro Tempore of the Senate) Denise Tugade, SEIU UHW   
Appointee (Future of Work Commission) Maria Salinas, Los Angeles Area Chamber of Commerce 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2849
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2849
https://esd.dof.ca.gov/Documents/bcp/2324/FY2324_ORG0559_BCP6536.pdf
https://esd.dof.ca.gov/Documents/bcp/2324/FY2324_ORG0559_BCP6536.pdf


DRAFT Panel Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

2 

Tasks 
The panel members should expect to participate in at least the following tasks and in accordance with 
the Bagley-Keene Open Meetings Act: 

1. Complete Ethics and Sexual Harassment Training 
2. Share panel materials   
3. Actively participate in meetings following agreed-upon schedule 
4. Develop and approve the study Scope of Work   
5. Select and contract with a qualified study team 
6. Review study deliverable drafts, provide feedback, and monitor study team performance to 

ensure study achieves objectives 
7. Publish final study report in accordance with AB 2849 requirements 

Location and Meeting Schedule 
Timeframe Action Notes 

June 13, 2023 Remote meeting Panel will decide on meeting frequency, 
locations going forward 

July 2023 In-person meeting, Location TBD Temporary waiver of in-person meeting 
requirements expires, panel must meet in 
person if not extended 

September 2023 In-person meeting, Location TBD 

December 2023 In-person meeting, Location TBD 
March 2024 In-person meeting, Location TBD 
May 2024 In-person meeting, Location TBD 
June 2024 In-person meeting, Location TBD 

Travel Reimbursement 
LWDA and GoBiz panel members who participate through their existing positions in state government 
must submit their travel expense claims through their agency. 

Any panel members from outside state government may request travel reimbursement through Labor 
and Workforce Development Agency, in accordance with state of California travel policies. LWDA will 
provide instructions and additional information for panel members seeking reimbursement. 

California Public Records Act 
Please note that the Panel’s work is public business. With very limited exceptions, any documents or 
communications pertaining to Panel work, including items stored on personal devices, are subject to 
disclosure pursuant to a Public Records Act request. 

https://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/agweb/pdfs/publications/bagleykeene2004_ada.pdf


DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

1 

Background and Purpose 
The Future of Work Commission Report – A New Social Compact for Work and Workers - lists five 
objectives that motivate this effort: (1) ensure the creation of sufficient numbers of jobs for everyone who 
wants to work, including by extending financial and technical assistance to mission-oriented businesses, 
(2) eliminate working poverty, including by creating supports for workers to organize in unions and worker 
associations as well as supporting “high-road1” employment, (3) create a 21st-century worker benefits 
model and safety net, including by developing a portable benefits platform and encouraging 
apprenticeship and other skill-building programs, (4) raise the standard and share of quality jobs, including 
by creating a California Job Quality Incubator to support the increase of high-quality jobs, and (5) 
futureproof California with jobs and skills to prepare for technology, climate, and other shocks, including 
by providing incentives to the private sector to invest in worker training. 

In response to these objectives, AB 2849 (Chapter 808, Statutes of 2022) enacts the Promote Ownership 
by Workers for Economic Recovery Act. In enacting the law, the Legislature found that: 

a California-focused federated worker cooperative system may advance these objectives by 
encouraging the expansion of democratically run high-road cooperative businesses that 
promote equitable economic development, reduce inequality, and increase access to living-
wage jobs. Worker cooperatives have been shown to convey wealth building and other 
significant benefits to workers, including autonomy from larger economic forces, more resiliency 
during economic downturns, lower workforce turnover, greater voice in health, safety, and other 
workplace issues, and more equitable pay.   

AB 2849 (2022) establishes a panel to conduct a study regarding the creation of an Association of 
Cooperative Labor Contractors among other potential activities for the purpose of facilitating the growth 
of democratically run high-road cooperative labor contractors. AB 2849 requires the study to consider 
specified issues, including how to promote tenets of democratic worker control and ensure that the 
association’s members offer high-road jobs. AB 2849 (2022) requires the panel, in preparing the study, 
to engage in a stakeholder process by which it consults with, at a minimum, organized labor, worker 
cooperatives, and business groups that can assess the opportunities and challenges associated with 
expanding workplace democracy.   

Objectives   
The study objectives are to answer questions related to understanding the benefits and sustainability of 
worker cooperatives to improve low-wage, low-skill worker outcomes. This will include examining the 
business conditions and enabling factors that may support a successful and sustainable business model 
for democratically run high-road worker cooperatives. 

The study will focus on a few key industries, such as: Allied health, rural hospital management, agriculture. 

Phase 1 Study Objectives: In Phase 1, the research team will lead a study to Understand Benefits and 
Sustainability of Worker Cooperatives. The final deliverables will be a published Report and de-identified 
data on Understanding Benefits and Sustainability of Worker Cooperatives. 

1 For example, please reference https://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/putting-california-on-the-high-road-a-jobs-and-climate-
action-plan-for-2030/   

https://www.labor.ca.gov/labor-and-workforce-development-agency/fowc/
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2849
https://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/putting-california-on-the-high-road-a-jobs-and-climate-action-plan-for-2030/
https://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/putting-california-on-the-high-road-a-jobs-and-climate-action-plan-for-2030/


DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

2 

Phase 1: Study design report 
The Study Design Report will define (i) objectives, (ii) methods, (iii) data collection strategy, (iv) 
consultation strategy, (v) study limitations, (vi) ethics review process, (viii) workplan and milestones, and 
(ix) budget for Phase 1 Report. The Study Design Report will: 

1. Include protocol for literature review based on existing literature and data available 
2. If the AB 2849 Advisory Panel concurs, the study will separately analyze traditional workers' 

cooperatives and companies with ESOPs (employee stock ownership plans) that own all or most 
of the company. The study will not include ESOPs that have only a minority share of ownership. 

3. Include determination of any primary data collection needs. For the key informant interviews, the 
study design report will include drafts of the questionnaire(s), informed consent statement(s), 
Data Management Plan for all personally identifiable information (PII) and/or sensitive data 
collected from human subjects, and plans for Institutional Review Board (IRB) review that ensure 
alignment of evaluation protocols and informed consents with United States Federal Policy for 
Protection of Human Subjects (Common Rule 2018).   

4. Include best practices in research transparency and reproducibility, including consideration of 
reproducible workflow and data sharing feasibility 

  

Phase 1: Report - Understanding Benefits and Sustainability of Worker Cooperatives. This report will 
focus on the following areas:   

1. Chapter 1: Examine the effects of worker ownership by outcomes: (i) employees’ outcomes such 
as compensation (wages, benefits, risk, etc.), effects on equity and poverty, job security, and 
employee voice and satisfaction; (ii) customers’ outcomes such as product quality and innovation; 
(iii) lenders’ outcomes such as loan repayment; and community outcomes such as 
pollution. Qualify when results are more or less likely to be due to the causal effect of worker 
ownership vs. some other causal explanation (e.g., hiring workers with high or low market 
wages). 

2. Chapter 2: Examine standards for “high road” cooperative, such as wages, working conditions, 
employee training in making management decisions, ownership structures, and the mechanisms 
for employee decision-making and voice. There is substantial evidence that the effects of 
employee ownership depend on management practices. That is, employee ownership increases 
productivity more when workers have appropriate skills, incentives and decision-making 
authority. This section will examine which standards should exist for ‘high road’ coops, including 
but not limited to the tenets and standards identified in Labor Code section 10010(d)(3)-(4) 

3. Chapter 3: Examine barriers to employee ownership and high-road strategies.   Examples of 
potential barriers include transaction costs and legal barriers; employees’ lack of capital to buy 
into a coop; the lack of asset diversification faced by employee-owners; schools that do not teach 
skills needed by employee owners (e.g., reading a financial statement), banks’ unfamiliarity with 
coops; and so forth. 

4. Chapter 4: Examine enabling factors that promote cooperative success. The study will examine 
what regulations, financial market conditions, labor market conditions, and institutions facilitate 
worker ownership in settings where employee ownership is more common, such as the famous 
Mondragon network in Spain. 

5. Chapter 5: Examine policies and interventions California could implement to promote high-road 
worker cooperativities.   

a. For example, the study will examine how a potential Association of Cooperative Labor 
Contractors might incentivize, support, and sustain democratically run high-road worker 



DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

3 

cooperatives. More generally, the study will examine policy levers that might cost-
effectively address the barriers identified, building on the lessons of other models of 
worker ownership described above. 

b. Other policies might include: State support for an existing association of worker 
cooperatives; creating standard contracts (for incorporation, for worker-owners, or for 
banks) to reduce transaction costs, and so forth.   If the study identifies skill gaps for 
employee-owners, it might examine working with junior colleges, existing associations of 
cooperatives, and/or online training providers to provide appropriate training for 
employee-owners.   If employees’ lack of asset diversification is a major concern, the study 
could explore pension products that reduce an employee-owner’s 401k exposure to the 
sector of their cooperative.   

6. Chapter 6: Present evidence gaps and a learning agenda to fill those gaps. 

Phase 1: Study Methods: The above will be based on three research methods:   
1. Literature review. The literature review will be done in consultation with experts such as Douglas 

Kruse2 and Joseph Blasi3 , the two leading academics working on employee ownership.   
2. Expert interviews. The interviews will include representatives from organized labor, employees at 

existing cooperative and the leadership and members of existing associations of worker 
cooperatives (see table 1). 

3. Interviews and focus groups with employee-owners and with employees of matched capitalist 
firms.   The study will also hold two focus groups in each of 3 industries.   In each industry, one focus 
group will have employee-owners, and one will have employees of capitalist firms of a similar 
size.   The study partner will select the focal industries in cooperation with the AB 2849 Advisory 
Panel. 

Appendices to this report will outline the results of each research method.   

Table 1: Examples of associations of worker cooperatives 
National & international   

• ESOP association https://www.esopassociation.org/   
• US Federation of workers cooperatives https://www.usworker.coop/en/   
• Democracy at Work Institute: http://institute.usworker.coop/ 

• Survey of coop L c. 2018; good to see results.   
• Worker Coop Conference: https://www.conference.coop 
• International Cooperative Alliance: http://ica.coop/ 
• Project Equity: https://project-equity.org 
• Start.coop - Cooperative Leadership Training https://www.start.coop/ 
• National Center for Employee Ownership (NCEO) https://www.nceo.org/ 

Local & regional networks outside California 
• Mondragon cooperative network in Spain https://www.mondragon-corporation.com   
• Eastern Worker Cooperative Conference: http://east.usworker.coop/ 

2 https://smlr.rutgers.edu/faculty-staff/douglas-l-kruse   
3 Joseph R. Blasi | Rutgers School of Management and Labor Relations   

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.esopassociation.org/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY86wTafnbQ$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.usworker.coop/en/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY87Bmog3pA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/institute.usworker.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY851OQNDUQ$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.conference.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY85Ec4F_AA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/ica.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY86F6KQG1Q$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/project-equity.org/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY85PRAHGsA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.start.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY869zXbQ2g$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.nceo.org/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY85ijGxCNw$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.mondragon-corporation.com/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY86E8eXoaQ$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/east.usworker.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY85mwuK6_Q$
https://smlr.rutgers.edu/faculty-staff/douglas-l-kruse
https://smlr.rutgers.edu/faculty-staff/joseph-r-blasi


DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

4 

• NYC Network of Worker Cooperatives https://nycworker.coop 
Networks of cooperatives within California   

• Network of Bay Area Cooperatives: http://nobawc.org/ 
• Arizmendi Association of Cooperatives http://www.arizmendi.coop   
• California Center for Cooperative Development: http://www.cccd.coop/ 

Potential case studies 
o Farmworker Institute of Education & Leadership Development (FIELD) 
o AlliedUp cooperative of health care workers 

Note: We may not interview all of these associations. They are listed here as examples.   

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/nycworker.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY86MQJH7GQ$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/nobawc.org/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY870-zoFFg$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/www.arizmendi.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY85fExB3Bg$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/www.cccd.coop/__;!!C5ewNI1kZw!ToI1IBFoJb9PGl8Avsmmc_AeG5eNMwpW3hyzbObpGTRbpWJqI9Qfci3R_Wai9Y1vAUHuzckfP3VuQ-D4gcZqY87txgbM7w$
https://www.farmworkerinstitute.org/co-op%20symposium
https://alliedup.com/


DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

5 

Phase 2: Applied Research on effectiveness of intervention(s) on benefits and sustainability of worker 
cooperatives. The research study will be guided by: 

1. Phase 1 Report literature review and interviews will suggest several hypotheses about barriers 
facing high-road worker cooperatives and about potential cost-effective means to address these 
barriers.    

2. In consultation with the AB 2849 Panel, the study partner will develop applied research projects to 
shed light on these hypotheses.   

a. For example, assume that experts and cooperative members claim that business-to-business 
customers are often leery of worker-owned suppliers. The study might survey some 
business-to-business customers in focal sectors about their perceptions of worker-owned 
suppliers.   The study might also perform quasi-experiments, testing if providing additional 
information on the performance of worker-owned suppliers altered these potential 
customers’ willingness to purchase from worker cooperatives. 

b. Similar surveys and quasi-experiments could address potential employees and/or lenders. 
3. The findings of the Phase 2 Applied Research will inform any update to the policy analysis in Phase 1 

Report. 

Phase 2: Study Methods: The above will be based on three research methods: 
1. Survey of worker-owners and employees. Depending on the agreed intervention, the study will also 

require a survey of worker-owners, and a sample of employees in capitalist enterprises in similar 
industries. 



DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

6 

Tasks 
Continuous 
1. Progress Reporting - Produce quarterly 1-page Progress Reports to update on deliverable status and 

costs/burn rate (total expected: 6 maximum) 
2. Project Management support: In accordance with the Bagley-Keene guide, support the Advisory 

Panel with project management activities including: 
a. Provide administrative support to the Panel, managing the Panel's budget, securing locations 

for Panel meetings and workgroup meetings, arrange Panel member travel, prepare travel 
claims for reimbursement, develop, and distribute meeting agendas and briefing packets for 
members, and prepare minutes of Panel meetings and working group sessions. 

b. Assist with work plan for the Panel based on study timelines and decision points. 
c. Develop a meeting calendar and a timeline for producing the Panel's major work products;   
d. Identify and serve as liaisons with subject matter experts and arrange for expert testimony 

that informs the work of the Panel 

Study Deliverables 
1. Phase 1: Study Plan and related materials (July-September 2023) – Plan must define (i) chapter 

objectives, (ii) methods, (iii) data collection strategy, (iv) study limitations, (v) ethics review process 
(if engaging directly with human subjects), (vi) workplan and milestones, and (vii) budget 

a. Includes protocol for literature review and any meta-analysis based on existing literature and 
data available 

b. Includes determination and workplan of primary data collection needs. If primary data 
collection is required: 

i. Includes development of questionnaire(s), informed consent statement(s), Data 
Management Plan (if collecting at personally identifiable information (PII) and/or 
sensitive data directly from human subjects), plans for Institutional Review Board 
(IRB) review ensure alignment of evaluation protocols and informed consents with 
United States Federal Policy for Protection of Human Subjects (Common Rule 2018) 

ii. Includes assessment of need for study participant compensation and/or incentives to 
ensure sufficient representation rates for evaluation sample 

c. Includes best practices in research transparency and reproducibility, including consideration 
of reproducible workflow and data sharing feasibility 

d. Present to the AB 2849 Advisory Panel for review/comment. The study team is responsible 
for documenting comments and responses to comments. 

e. The study team should expect the final Study Report Plan and related materials be made 
publicly available and will ensure any identifiable information is assessed before publication. 

2. Phase 1: Report (September 2023-May 2024) – Conduct analysis and reporting on findings in 
alignment with agreed Study Plan based on outline provided in Study Objectives above. 

a. Ensure comprehensive literature review and meta-analysis of available evidence (if feasible) 
to respond to key topic areas defined above. 

b. If applicable, ensure conduct primary data collection in alignment with best practices (if 
applicable, described below). 

c. Present findings to the AB 2849 Advisory Panel on a quarterly basis. The study team is 
responsible for documenting comments and evaluator responses to comments 

d. Assess feasibility of de-identifying data that underlies analysis report to support access to data 
(public or restricted-access use) for reproducibility and additional analysis   

https://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/agweb/pdfs/publications/bagleykeene2004_ada.pdf


DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

7 

i. This should align with efforts to work toward California’s Open Data Policy, while also 
maintaining protection of confidentiality and privacy following Article 1 of the 
California Constitution, the Information Practices Act of 1977, the Information 
Practices Act (Civil Code Section 1798 et seq.), the Public Records Act (Government 
Code Section 6250 et seq.), Government Code Sections 11015.5 and 11019.9, and 
other applicable laws pertaining to information privacy. 

e. Support dissemination efforts including internal and external presentations, including 
community engagement to share findings from study with the AB 2849 partners. 

f. The study should expect the Report be made publicly available. 
3. Phase 2: Study Plan and related materials (July-September 2024) – Develop study design for a 

rigorous, prospective study of selected intervention(s) to test effectiveness on benefits and 
sustainability of worker cooperatives on outcomes of interest. Study Design must define (i) chapter 
objectives, (ii) methods, (iii) data collection strategy, (iv) study limitations, (v) ethics review process 
(if engaging directly with human subjects), (vi) workplan and milestones, and (vii) budget 

a. Includes protocol for literature review and any meta-analysis based on existing literature and 
data available 

b. Includes determination and workplan of primary data collection needs. If primary data 
collection is required: 

i. Includes development of questionnaire(s), informed consent statement(s), Data 
Management Plan (if collecting at personally identifiable information (PII) and/or 
sensitive data directly from human subjects), plans for Institutional Review Board 
(IRB) review ensure alignment of evaluation protocols and informed consents with 
United States Federal Policy for Protection of Human Subjects (Common Rule 2018) 

ii. Includes assessment of need for study participant compensation and/or incentives to 
ensure sufficient representation rates for evaluation sample 

c. Includes best practices in research transparency and reproducibility, including consideration 
of reproducible workflow and data sharing feasibility 

d. Present to the AB 2849 Advisory Panel for review/comment. The study team is responsible 
for documenting comments and responses to comments. 

e. The study team should expect the final Study Report Plan and related materials be made 
publicly available and will ensure any identifiable information is assessed before publication. 

4. Phase 2: Applied Research Report (September 2024-June 2026) – Lead a rigorous, prospective study 
of selected intervention(s) to test effectiveness on benefits and sustainability of worker cooperatives 
on outcomes of interest. 

a. Align methods with agreed Study Plan. 
b. If applicable, ensure conduct primary data collection in alignment with best practices (if 

applicable, described below). 
c. Ensure recommendations are made to AB 2849 Advisory Panel on existing evidence gaps and 

recommendations for future evidence generation efforts. 
d. Present findings to the AB 2849 Advisory Panel. The study team is responsible for 

documenting comments and evaluator responses to comments 
e. Assess feasibility of de-identifying data that underlies analysis report to support access to data 

(public or restricted-access use) for reproducibility and additional analysis   
i. This should align with efforts to work toward California’s Open Data Policy, while also 

maintaining protection of confidentiality and privacy following Article 1 of the 
California Constitution, the Information Practices Act of 1977, the Information 



DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

8 

Practices Act (Civil Code Section 1798 et seq.), the Public Records Act (Government 
Code Section 6250 et seq.), Government Code Sections 11015.5 and 11019.9, and 
other applicable laws pertaining to information privacy. 

f. Support dissemination efforts including internal and external presentations, including 
community engagement to share findings from study with the AB 2849 partners. 

g. The study should expect the Business Impact Analysis Report be made publicly available. 

Any study components that require primary data collection will include the following: 
5. Primary data collection – Lead data collection based on approved Study Plan and Questionnaire 

a. Align questionnaire(s)/survey instrument(s) with Study Plan and alignment with key topics 
areas defined above. 

i. The study team should aim for a reasonable burden of time for the data collection. 
Any interviews more than 60 minutes should be considered carefully and align with 
best practices for ensuring data quality and study participant’s needs and constraints. 

b. Coordinate with State to ensure language needs of target population are met. While survey 
instruments will be created in English, study must assess translation and back translation 
needs given the expected participant population (Spanish, Tagalog, Mandarin, Cantonese, 
Vietnamese, other) 

c. Ensure alignment with study protocols, informed consent, Data Management Plan to ensure 
evaluation is conducted in ethical and responsible manner 

d. Ensure quality assurance process is established to assess and maintain high quality data 
during collection and entry 

e. Ensure data collection and management maintains required levels of protection of privacy 
and confidentiality as per agreed informed consent statements 

f. Ensure appropriate and secure distribution of any necessary compensation and/or incentives 
to study participants as per the Study Plan 

Deliverables and Milestones 
The evaluation timeline and deliverables schedule will be based on the final approved Evaluation Design 
Report with data collection timing linked to the theory of change and reasonable expectations on when 
to measure outputs and outcomes. For this RFP, the proposed schedule is: 

Deliverable Expected Date 
Project Management – organizing continuous Advisory Panel meetings, 
agenda, minutes in accordance with Bagley-Keene 

July 2023-July 2024 

Phase 1: Study Plan and related materials (questionnaires, informed 
consent, protocol) 

July-September 2023 

Phase 1: Report - Understanding Benefits and Sustainability of Worker 
Cooperatives 

September 2023-May 2024 

Draft Quarterly presentations 
Final May 2024 

Phase 1: Dissemination and submission of all final materials (Report, 
de-identified data, other documentation) 

May-September 2024 

Phase 2: Study Plan and related materials (questionnaires, informed 
consent, protocol) 

July-September 2024 



DRAFT Study Statement of Work   
AB 2849 Panel 

9 

Phase 2: Report - Applied Research to test effectiveness of 
intervention(s) 

September 2024-June 2026 

Draft Quarterly presentations 
Final May 2026 

Phase 2: Dissemination and submission of all final materials (Report, 
de-identified data, other documentation) 

June 2026 

Timeline and Budget: The initial period of performance will be July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2024. AB2849 
requires the panel to complete the study and make it publicly available on the internet by June 30, 2024. 
The total budget for the initial period of performance is $631,677 with 15-month period of performance. 

Depending on performance and available funding, the period of performance may be extended October 
1, 2024-June 30, 2026. This would be to fund the Applied Research defined by the primary study and 
Report 1 to build evidence on the effectiveness of selected intervention(s) to promote benefits and 
sustainability of worker cooperatives.   



DRAFT Study Team Proposal   
AB 2849 Panel 

Proposal: LWDA proposes to contract with the UC Berkeley Institute for Business and Social Impact (IBSI) 
for Professor David I. Levine to lead the research study to achieve objectives under AB 2849 Promote 
Ownership by Workers for Economic Recovery Act. In addition, IBSI will provide project management 
support for the AB2849 Panel. The contract is proposed for $631,677 for a period of performance from 
July 1, 2023-September 30, 2024.   

About IBSI: The Institute for Business and Social Impact (IBSI) builds upon the historic commitment of the 
University of California Berkeley’s Haas School of Business to excellence in research and public education. 
IBSI focuses on the design and testing of innovative, impactful, and evidence-based solutions to social and 
environmental challenges. The goals of IBSI are to: 

 Build a more equitable, inclusive and sustainable society. 
 Train leaders who can work across traditional boundaries between nonprofit organizations, for-

profit enterprise and the public sector to achieve social impact. 
 Promote social entrepreneurs to create new solutions to social and environmental challenges. 

About the proposed Principal Investigator: David I. Levine is the Eugene E. and Catherine 
M. Trefethen Professor of Business Administration at Berkeley Haas, where he chairs the Economic 
Analysis and Policy Group.   He is past chair of the University’s Center for Health Research, research board 
of the Center for Responsible Business, and of the Advisory Board for Center for Effective Global Action 
(CEGA). Dr. Levine has published articles on compensation, workplace diversity, and employee 
involvement in refereed journals including American Economic Review, Economic Journal, Industrial 
Relations, Industrial and Labor Relations Review, Journal of Human Resources, and Journal of Labor 
Economics. Levine has taught at the Haas School since receiving his Ph.D. in economics from Harvard 
University in 1987. Levine has also had visiting positions at the Sloan School of Management at MIT, the 
U.S. Department of Labor, and the President’s Council of Economic Advisors Economic Advisers.   

Dr. Levine’s books on workplaces and workplace policy include:   
 Carve-outs in Workers’ Compensation Programs in California Construction, with Cristian 

Echeverria, Frank Neuhauser, Richard Reuben, and Jeffrey S Petersen, Upjohn Institute, 
Kalamazoo MI, 2003 

 How New is the “New” Employment Contract? with Dale Belman, Gary Charness, Erica Groshen, 
and KC O’Shaughnessy, Upjohn Institute, Kalamazoo MI, 2002 (Listed as “Noteworthy” by the 
Princeton Industrial Relations Section) 

 The American Workplace: Skills, Pay, and Employee Involvement, editor, with Casey Ichniowski, 
Craig Olson, and George Strauss, Cambridge University Press, 2000 

 Working in the 21st Century: Government Policies to Promote Opportunity, Learning and 
Productivity in the New Economy, ME Sharpe, Armonk NY, 1998 

 Reinventing the Workplace: How Business and Employees Can Both Win, Brookings Institution, 
Washington DC, 1995   



DAVID I. LEVINE 

Haas School of Business    (510)642-1697 
University of California     levine@haas.berkeley.edu 
Berkeley CA  94720-1900    http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine/ 

EDUCATION 

• 1987 Ph.D. Harvard University: Economics 
• 1985 A.M. Harvard University: Economics 
• 1982 B.A. University of California, Berkeley: Economics and Computer Science 

EMPLOYMENT 

• Haas School of Business, University of California, Berkeley: Eugene E. and Catherine M. 
Trefethen Professor of Business Administration, 2006-present   

o Previously Professor 2002-06, Associate Professor 1993-2002, and Assistant 
Professor 1987-1993 

• Council of Economic Advisers: Senior Economist, 1994-1995 
• Office of the American Workplace, U.S. Department of Labor: Senior Research 

Economist, 1994 
• Sloan School, MIT: Visiting Scholar, Industrial Relations Group, 1991  
• Harvard University: Teaching Fellow, 1983-86 
• NBER: Research assistant for Professor Lawrence Summers, 1984 
• Programmer for Intermetrics (1982), Apple Computer (1979-81) and Intel (1978)   

OTHER AFFILIATIONS 

• Development Engineering Graduate Group, University of California, Berkeley: Executive 
Committee, 2013-present. 

• Graduate Group in Health Services and Policy Analysis (HSPA), University of California, 
Berkeley: Executive Committee, 2008-present. 

• WE CARE Solar: Scientific Advisory Board, 2008-present. 
• Goodguide: Scientific Advisory Board, 2007-present. 
• Economic Analysis and Policy Group, Haas School of Business, University of California, 

Berkeley: chair, 2008-2011. 
• Ombudsman Committee, UC Berkeley, 2008-12. 
• Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA), University of California: Founding chair of 

the Advisory Board, 2006-2011. 
• Center for Responsible Business, Haas School of Business, University of California, 

Berkeley: Faculty Advisory Board, 2003-2009. 
o Research Director, 2004-2006. 

• Center for Health Research, University of California, Berkeley: Chair, 2005-2008. 
• NERA Economic Consulting: Special consultant, 2005-2008. 

http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine
mailto:levine@haas.berkeley.edu


• Industrial Relations: Editor, 1993-2005. 
• Institute of Industrial Relations, U.C. Berkeley: Associate Director, 1997-2005. 
• Center for Labor Research and Education, U.C. Berkeley: Executive Committee and 

Advisory Board, 1995-2005. 
• Institute for Labor and the Economy, University of California: Research Committee, 

2001-2003. 
• Center for Organization and Human Resource Effectiveness: Founding Director of 

Research, 1996-2000.   
• Labor Center Reporter: Faculty Mentor, U.C. Berkeley, 1998-1992. 
• Dollars and Sense: Editorial Associate, 1985-1990. 

BOOKS AND MONOGRAPHS 

Global Challenges in Responsible Business, editor, with C.B. Bhattacharya, Craig Smith and 
David Vogel, Cambridge University Press, 2010. 

Carve-outs in Workers’ Compensation Programs in California Construction, with Cristian 
Echeverria, Frank Neuhauser, Richard Reuben, and Jeffrey S. Petersen, Upjohn Institute, 
Kalamazoo MI, 2003. 

How New is the “New” Employment Contract? with Dale Belman, Gary Charness, Erica 
Groshen, and K.C. O’Shaughnessy, Upjohn Institute, Kalamazoo MI, 2002. (Listed as 
“Noteworthy” by the Princeton Industrial Relations Section.)   

The American Workplace: Skills, Pay, and Employee Involvement, editor, with Casey Ichniowski, 
Craig Olson, and George Strauss, Cambridge University Press, 2000. 

Working in the 21st Century: Government Policies to Promote Opportunity, Learning and 
Productivity in the New Economy, M.E. Sharpe, Armonk NY, 1998. 

Reinventing the Workplace: How Business and Employees Can Both Win, Brookings Institution, 
Washington DC, 1995 

REFEREED ARTICLES (Most articles are on my web site.) 

“What is a ‘meal’? Comparative methods of auditing carbon offset compliance for fuel-efficient 
cookstoves.” with Steve Harrell, Theresa Beltramo, Garrick Blalock, Juliet Kyayesimira, and 
Andrew Simons, Ecological Economics, v. 128.  Aug. 2016: 8-16.   
doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.03.014.   

“The Disgust Box: A Novel Approach to Illustrate Water Contamination with Feces.” With 
Kaniz Jannat, Mahfuzur Rahman and Leanne Unicomb.  Forthcoming, Global Health Promotion. 
2016.  

“Insuring Health or Insuring Wealth? An Experimental Evaluation of Health Insurance in Rural 
Cambodia,” with Rachel Polimeni and Ian Ramage. Journal of Development Economics. Vol. 
119, March 2016: 1–15. [http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304387815001194] 
  

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.03.014
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304387815001194


“Design Thinking in Development Engineering,” with Martha A. Lesniewski and Alice M. 
Agogino, International Journal of Engineering Education, special issue 32, 3(B)), May/June 
2016: 1396-1406. 

“Disgust, Shame and Soapy Water: Tests of Novel Interventions to Promote Safe Water and 
Hygiene,” with Raymond P. Guiteras, Stephen P. Luby, Thomas H. Polley, Kaniz Khatun-e-
Jannat and Leanne Unicomb. Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource 
Economists. 3(2) May 2016 321-359. 
http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdfplus/10.1086/684161 

“The Pursuit of Balance in Sequential Randomized Trials,” with Raymond P. Guiteras and 
Thomas H. Polley.  Development Engineering. 1 (2016) 12–25.  (Preprint at 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352728515300580).   

“The Effect of Marketing Messages, Liquidity Constraints, and Household Bargaining 
on Willingness to Pay for a Nontraditional Cookstove,” with Theresa Beltramo and Garrick 
Blalock. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, forthcoming.  UC Berkeley: Center 
for Effective Global Action. 2014. http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/4cq705v3 

“Do Ratings of Firms Converge? Implications for Strategy Research” with Aaron Chatterji, 
Rodolphe Durand, and Samuel Touboul.  Strategic Management Journal. (2015) doi: 
10.1002/smj.2407 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/smj.2407/epdf   

“Explaining low rates of sustained use of siphon water filter: Evidence from follow-up of a 
randomized controlled trial in Bangladesh, with Nusrat Najin and others, Tropical Medicine & 
International Health. April 2015. 20(4):471-83. doi: 10.1111/tmi.12448.    

“Does Peer Use Influence Adoption of Efficient Cookstoves? Evidence from a Randomized 
Controlled Trial in Uganda” With Andrew Simons, Theresa Beltramo and Garrick Blalock. 
Forthcoming, Health Communications, 20, 2015: 55–66.  

“Comparing Methods for Signal Analysis of Temperature Readings from Stove Use Monitors.” 
With Andrew Simons, Theresa Beltramo and Garrick Blalock. Biomass and Bioenergy. 2014. 
(http://authors.elsevier.com/sd/article/S0961953414003808) 

“Nudging to Use: Achieving Safe Water Behaviors in Kenya and Bangladesh,” with Jill Luoto, 
Jeff Albert and Stephen Luby, Journal of Development Economics, 110, September 2014: 13–21. 
(http://authors.elsevier.com/sd/article/S0304387814000303) 

“The Effect of Solar Ovens on Fuel Use, Emissions, and Health: Results from a Randomized 
Controlled Trial,” with Theresa Beltramo.   Journal of Development Effectiveness, 3, 2, June 
2013: 178-207. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19439342.2013.775177   

“A rapid assessment randomized-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana,” with 
Jason Burwen. Energy for Sustainable Development. 16, 3, September 2012: 328–338. 
[http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0973082612000208] 

“Randomized Government Safety Inspections Reduce Worker Injuries with No Detectable Job 
Loss,” with Michael W. Toffel and Matthew S. Johnson.   Science. 336, May 18, 2012: 907-912. 

http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdfplus/10.1086/684161
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352728515300580
http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/4cq705v3
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/smj.2407/epdf
http://authors.elsevier.com/sd/article/S0961953414003808
http://authors.elsevier.com/sd/article/S0304387814000303
http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19439342.2013.775177
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0973082612000208


“Learning to Dislike Safe Water Products: Results from a Randomized Controlled Trial of the 
Effects of Direct and Peer Experience on Willingness to Pay.” With Jill Luoto, Minhaj Mahmud, 
Jeff Albert, Stephen Luby, Nusrat Najnin, and Leanne Unicomb.  Environmental Science & 
Technology: 46 (11), May 2012: 6244-6251. 

“Thermostats for Smart Grid: Models, Benchmarks and Insights.”  With Yong Liang and Zuo-
Jun Shen.  Energy Journal. 33 (4), 2012 (SSRN's Top Ten download list for: Sustainable 
Technology eJournal.)   

“What Point-of-Use Water Treatment Products do Consumers Use and Value? Evidence from 
the Urban Poor in Bangladesh,” with Jill Luoto, Nusrat Najnin, Minhaj Mahmud, Jeff Albert, M. 
Sirajul Islam, Stephen Luby, Leanne Unicomb.  PLoS ONE, Oct. 20, 2011. 
[http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026132] 

“The Effect of Industrialization on Children’s Education: The Experience of Mexico,” with Ann 
Le Brun and Susan Helper, Review of Economics and Institutions, 2, 2, article 1, Spring 2011. 

“The Economics of International Refugee Law” with Ryan Bubb and Michael Kremer, Journal of 
Legal Studies. 40, 2, June 2011: 367-404. [http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/661185] 

“Do Race, Age, and Gender Differences Affect Manager-Employee Relations? An Analysis of 
Quits, Dismissals, and Promotions at a Large Retail Firm,” with Laura Giuliano and Jonathan 
Leonard. Journal of Human Resources.  46, 1, Winter 2011, 26-52. 

“End-User Preferences for and Performance of Competing POU Water Treatment Technologies 
among the Rural Poor of Kenya,” with Jeff Albert and Jill Luoto, Environmental Science & 
Technology, 44 (12), 2010 pp 4426–4432. (Editor’s Choice Award as ES&T’s Best Policy 
Analysis Paper of 2010.) 

“When Is Employee Retaliation Acceptable at Work? Evidence From Quasi-Experiments.” With 
Gary Charness. Industrial Relations. 49, 4, October 2010: 499-523. 

“Quality Management and Job Quality: How the ISO 9001 Standard for Quality Management 
Systems Affects Employees and Employers,” with Michael Toffel. Management Science. 56, 6, 
June 2010. (Working paper version was Top Ten download list for MRN Operations Research 
Network and OPER ,Labor: Public Policy & Regulation eJournal, Law & Society: Private Law, 
MRN Production & Operations Management Network and PROD Subject Matter eJournals.) 

“Customer Discrimination,” with Laura Giuliano and Jonathan Leonard.  Review of Economics 
and Statistics. 92, 3, August 2010: 670-678. 

“Industrialization, Pollution and Infant Mortality” (June 2010). With Maya Environment and 
Development Economics, 15, 05, pp. 557-584.  

“Manager Race and the Race of New Hires,” with Laura Giuliano and Jonathan Leonard. Journal 
of Labor Economics. 27, 4, 2009: 589-631. 

“Do Microfinance Programs Help Families Insure Consumption Against Illness?” with Paul 
Gertler and Enrico Moretti.  Health Economics, 18, 3, 2009: 257-273. 

“How Well Do Social Ratings Actually Measure Corporate Social Responsibility?” with Aaron 
K. Chatterji and Michael W. Toffel.  Journal of Economics, Management and Strategy, Spring 
2009, 18, 1: 125-169.   (Working paper was on SSRN's Top Ten download list for Environmental 

http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026132
http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1086/661185


Economics, ERPN: Social Responsibility & Public Policy (Topic), ERPN: Social Responsibility, 
Sustainability & Environmental Policy (Sub-Topic) and MRN Production & Operations 
Management Network.)   

“Investment Following a Financial Crisis: Does Foreign Ownership Matter?” with Garrick 
Blalock and Paul Gertler. Journal of Monetary Economics. 55, 3, April 2008: 568-591.   

“Are measured school effects just sorting? Causality and correlation in the National Education 
Longitudinal Survey,” with Gary Painter. Economics of Education Review, 27, 4, August 2008: 
460-470. 

“Fairness and the employment contract: North American regions versus Germany.” Cambridge 
Journal of Economics   

“The Acceptability of Layoffs and Pay Cuts: Comparing North America with Germany,” with 
Knut Gerlach, Gesine Stephan, and Olaf Struck. Cambridge Journal of Economics. 32, 3, 2008: 
1-19. 

“Intention and Stochastic Outcomes: An Experimental Study,” with Gary Charness. Economic 
Journal, 117 July 2007: 1051–1072. 

“The Growing Importance of Family and Community: An Analysis of Changes in the Sibling 
Correlation in Earnings,” with Bhashkar Mazumder. Industrial Relations, 46, 1, January 2007: 
7-21. 

“Growth, Industrialization, and the Intergenerational Correlation of Advantage,” with Jon R. 
Jellema.  Industrial Relations, 46, 1, January 2007: 130-170.   

“Is Social Capital the Capital of the Poor? The Role of Family and Community in Helping Insure 
Living Standards Against Health Shocks,” with Paul Gertler and Enrico Moretti. CESifo 
Economic Studies, no. 52, September 2006: 455 - 499 

“The Effect of Diversity on Turnover: A Large Case Study,” with Jonathan S. Leonard.  
Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 39, 4, July 2006: 457-572.  

“Does Trade Affect Health?” with Dov Rothman. Journal of Health Economics. 25, 2006: 538– 
554. 

“Breaking Down The Wall Of Codes: Evaluating Non-Financial Performance Measurement,” 
with Aaron Chatterji, California Management Review, 48, 2, winter 2006: 29-51. 

“Did Industrialization Destroy Social Capital in Indonesia?” with Paul Gertler and Ted Miguel. 
Economic Development and Cultural Change, 54, 2, winter 2006: 287-318. 

“Does Social Capital Promote Industrialization? Evidence from a Rapid Industrializer,” with Ted 
Miguel and Paul Gertler, Review of Economics and Statistics, 87, 4, November 2005: 754-762. 

“The Effect of Industrialization on School Enrollment: Evidence from Indonesia,” with Maya 
Federman, Contributions to Macroeconomics, B.E. Journals in Macroeconomics, 5, 1, Article 1, 
2005. 

“Size, Skill and Sorting,” with Dale Belman.   Labour, 18, 4, Dec. 2004: 515-561. 



“Do Birds of a Feather Shop Together? The Effects of Employees’ Similarity with each Other 
and With Customers on Performance,” with Jonathan Leonard and Aparna Joshi, Journal of 
Organizational Behavior, 25, 6, August 2004: 731-754. 

“Daddies, Devotion, and Dollars: How Do They Matter for Youth?” With Gary Painter, 
American Journal of Economics and Sociology, 63, 4, October 2004: 813 - 850.  

“Schooling and Parental Death,” with Paul Gertler and Minnie Ames. Review of Economics and 
Statistics, 86, 1, Feb. 2004: 211-225. 

“The Costs of Teenage Out-of-Wedlock Childbearing: Analysis with a Within-School Propensity 
Score Matching Estimator,” with Gary Painter, Review of Economics and Statistics, 85, 4, Nov. 
2003: 884-900. 

“The Effects of Diversity on Business Performance: Report of a Feasibility Study of the Diversity 
Research Network,” with Thomas Kochan, and others. Human Resource Management, 42, 1, 
Spring 2003: 3-23. Winner of the Ulrich & Lake Award for Excellence in HRM Scholarship, 
2004. 

“Are Investments in Daughters Lower When Daughters Move Away? Evidence from Indonesia,” 
with Michael Kevane. World Development, 31, 6, June 2003. (SSRN Top Ten download list for 
“Other East Asian Studies eJournal- Forthcoming.”)   

“‘Carve-outs’ from the Workers’ Compensation System,” with Jeffrey S. Petersen and Frank 
Neuhauser.  The Journal of Policy Analysis and Management. 21, 3, Summer 2002: 467-483. 

“Employee Involvement and Pay at American Auto Suppliers,” with Susan Helper and Elliot 
Bendoly.  Journal of Economic Management and Strategy, 11, 2, Summer 2002: 329-377. 

“Changes in the Employment Contract,” with Gary Charness. Journal of Economic Behavior and 
Organization. Apr 2002, 47, 4: 391-405. 

“Changes in Managerial Pay Structures 1986-1992: Tests of Human Capital and Other 
Explanations,” with K.C. O’Shaughnessy and Peter Cappelli. Oxford Economics Papers, 3 
(2001), 482-507. 

“Family Structure and Youth Outcomes: Which Correlations are Causal?” With Gary Painter, 
Summer 2000, Journal of Human Resources, XXXV, 3, pp. 524-549. 

“When are Layoffs Acceptable?  Evidence from a Quasi-Experiment,” with Gary Charness.  
April 2000, Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 53, 3, pp. 381-400. 

“The NELS Curve: Replicating The Bell Curve with the National Educational Longitudinal 
Survey,” with Gary Painter, Industrial Relations, 38, 3, July 1999, pp. 364-406. 

“Flexibility versus Efficiency? A Case Study of Model Changeovers in the Toyota Production 
System,” Organization Science, 10, 1, January-February 1999, pp. 43-68. 

“Computer Mediated Communication as Employee Voice: A Case Study,” with Elizabeth 
Bishop, Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 52, 2, January 1999, pp. 213-233. 

“Reinventing Regulation: Letting Employees and Employers Solve their Own Problems,” The 
California Management Review, 39, 4, September, 1997, pp. 98-117. 



“Institutional Incentives for Employer Training,” with David Finegold, Journal of Education and 
Work, 10, 2. June, 1997.  

“Ergonomics, Employee Involvement, and the Toyota Production System: A Case Study of 
NUMMI’s 1993 Model Introduction,” with Paul S. Adler and Barbara Goldoftas, Industrial and 
Labor Relations Review, 50, 3, April 1997, pp. 416-437. Reprinted in The Fordism of Ford and 
Modern Management, Huw Beynon, editor, Elgar, 2005. 

“What Does it Mean to Be Poor in America,” with Maya Federman, Thesia Garner, Kathleen 
Short, John Kiely, Duane McGough, and Marilyn McNillen, Monthly Labor Review, May 1996, 
pp. 3-17. 

“A Quality Policy for America,” with Susan Helper, Contemporary Policy Issues, 13, 2, April 
1995, pp. 26-37. 

“Work Organization, Employment Security, and Macroeconomic Stability,” with Richard Parkin, 
Journal of Economic Behavior and Organizations, 24, 3, August 1994, pp. 251-271. 

“Fairness, Markets and Ability to Pay: Evidence from Compensation Executives,” American 
Economic Review, 83, 5, December 1993, pp. 1241-1259. 

“The Effects of Non-Traditional Attitudes on Married Women’s Labor Supply,” Journal of 
Economic Psychology, 14, 4, December 1993, pp. 665-679. 

“What Do Wages Buy?” Administrative Science Quarterly, 38, 3, September, 1993, pp. 462-483. 
A short version appeared in the Proceedings of the Industrial Relations Research Association, 
1993, pp. 133-141. 

“Worth Waiting For?  Delayed Compensation, Training and Turnover in the United States and 
Japan,” Journal of Labor Economics, 4, 3, September 1993, pp. 724-752. 

“Do Corporate Executives have Rational Expectations?” Journal of Business, 66, 2, April 1993, 
pp. 271-294. 

“Long-Term Supplier Relations and Product Market Structure,” with Susan Helper, Journal of 
Law, Economics and Organization, 8, 3, October, 1992, pp. 561-581. 

“Can Wage Increases Pay for Themselves?  Tests with a Production Function,” Economic 
Journal, 102, 414, September 1992, pp. 1102-1115. 

“Piece Rates, Output Restriction, and Cohesiveness,” Journal of Economic Psychology, 13, 3, 
September 1992, pp. 473-479. 

“Product Quality and Pay Equity Between Low-Level Employees and Top Management: An 
Investigation of Distributive Justice Theory,” with Douglas Cowherd, Administrative Science 
Quarterly, 37, 2, June 1992, pp. 302-320. 

“Public Policy Implications of Imperfections in the Market for Worker Participation,” Economic 
and Industrial Democracy, 13, 3, May 1992, pp. 184-206. 

“Just Cause Employment Policies in the Presence of Worker Adverse Selection,” Journal of 
Labor Economics, 9, 3, July 1991, pp. 294-305. 



“Cohesiveness, Productivity, and Wage Dispersion,” Journal of Economic Behavior and 
Organizations, 15, March 1991, pp. 237-255. 

“Just Cause Employment Policies When Unemployment is a Worker Discipline Device,” 
American Economic Review, 79, 4, September, 1989, pp. 902-905. 

“Efficiency Wages in Weitzman’s Share Economy,” Industrial Relations, 28, 3, Fall 1989, pp. 
321-334.  A short version appeared in Economics Letters, 23, 1987, pp. 245-249. 

OTHER ARTICLES AND BOOK CHAPTERS 

“Toward Universal Health Insurance in Cambodia,” with Virginie Diaz Pedregal, Stéphanie 
Pamies-Sumner and Ian Ramage, in Rémi Genevey, Rajendra, K.Pachauri and Laurence Tubiana, 
eds., Reducing Inequalities, TERI, Delhi, 2013, p. 133-137. 

“The New ‘Managerial Misclassification’ Challenge to Old Wage & Hour Law or What is 
Managerial Work?” with David Lewin, in Contemporary Issues in Employment Relations, David 
Lewin, ed., LERA Research Volume, Cornell University Press, 2006: 189-222. 

“The Effects of New Work Practices on Workers,” with Michael Handel, in America at Work, 
Edward E. Lawler III and James O’Toole, editors, Palgrave Macmillan, New York NY: 73-86.   
(An earlier version appeared in Industrial Relations, 43, 1, January 2004: 1-43.)   

“Public Policy Implications,” in The American Workplace: Skills, Pay, and Employee 
Involvement, edited by Casey Ichniowski and others, Cambridge University Press, 2000, pp. 273-
282. 

“The Economics of Works Councils,” with Bruce Kaufman, in Nonunion Forms of Employee 
Representation: History, Contemporary Practice, and Policy, Kaufman and Daphne Taras, eds., 
M. E. Sharpe, Armonk NY, 2000, pp. 149-175. 

“The Quality of Incentives and the Incentives of Quality,” with Katherine Shaw, in The Quality 
Movement in America: Lessons for Theory and Research, Robert Cole and Richard Scott, eds., 
Sage, NY, 2000, pp. 367-386. 

“A Case Study of the Mortgage Application Process,” with Ken Temkin and Diane Levy, in 
Mortgage Lending Discrimination: A Review of the Evidence, Margery Austin Turner and 
Felicity Skidmore, eds, Urban Institute Press, Washington DC, 1999, pp. 137-160.  

“Stability and Change at NUMMI,” with Paul S. Adler and Barbara Goldoftas, in Robert Boyer, 
Elsie Charron, Ulrich Jürgens, and Steven Tolliday (eds.), Between Imitation and Innovation: 
Transfer and Hybridization of Production Models in the International Automobile Industry, New 
York: Oxford University Press, 1998, pp. 128-160. 

“(Attempts at) Replication of The Bell Curve,” editor’s introduction to a symposium, Industrial 
Relations, July 1999, pp. 245-249. 

“They Should Solve Their Own Problems: Reinventing Workplace Regulation,” in Government 
Regulation of the Employment Relationship: A Critical Appraisal, Industrial Relations Research 
Association, Madison WI, 1997. 

“Team Production,” in The Human Resource Management Handbook, David Lewin, Daniel J.B. 
Mitchell, and Mahmood Zaidi, editors, JAI Press, Greenwich CN, 1997. pp. 35-61. 



“What Works at Work: A Critical Review,” with Casey Ichniowski, Thomas Kochan, Craig 
Olson, and George Strauss, Industrial Relations, vol 35, no. 3, Summer, 1996, pp. 299-333.  (A 
version appeared in The American Workplace, Cambridge U. Press, 2000, pp. 1-37.) 

“The US Labor Market: ‘Institutions’ ≠ Rigid and ‘Unregulated’ ≠ Market-Clearing,” 
Proceedings of the Industrial Relations Research Association, 1994. 

“The Relation between Supplier Participation and Worker Participation,” with Susan Helper, 
Proceedings of the Industrial Relations Research Association, 1994, pp. 12-25. 

“Demand Variability and Work Organization,” in Democracy and Markets: Participation, 
Accountability, and Efficiency, Samuel Bowles, Herbert Gintis, and Bo Gufstafsson, eds, 
Cambridge University Press, 1993, pp. 159-175. 

“Computer Mediated Communication as Employee Voice: A Case Study,” with Elizabeth 
Bishop, Proceedings of the Conference on NetWORKing, IFIP WG 9.1, 1993. 

“Participation, Productivity, and the Firm’s Environment,” with Laura D’Andrea Tyson, in 
Paying for Productivity, Alan Blinder, ed., Brookings Institution, 1990, pp. 183-244.  (Selected 
for Frontier Issues in Economic Thought series, The Changing Nature of Work, Global 
Development and Environment Institute, 1999). 

“Employee Participation and Involvement,” with George Strauss, in Investing in People, Report 
for the Commission on Workforce Quality and Labor Market Efficiency, Background papers, 
Vol. II, paper 35b, U.S. Department of Labor, September, 1989, pp. 1893-1948. 

Efficiency Wage Theories:  Micro- and Macroeconomic Implications and Empirical Tests, Ph.D. 
Dissertation, Harvard University, Cambridge MA, 1987. 

Spot and Futures Markets for Natural Gas, Brookhaven National Laboratory Report, 1984. 



WORKING PAPERS    (Available on my Web site.) 

Safe Water 

• “Mobile Phones, Rent-to-Own Payments & Water Filters: Evidence from Kenya.” With 
Jill Luoto, RAND Working Paper Series WR-1039, March 19, 2014. 
http://www.rand.org/pubs/working_papers/WR1039.html    

• “Credit Constraints, Discounting and Investment in Health:   Evidence from 
Micropayments for Clean Water in Dhaka,” with Raymond Guiteras, Thomas Polley and 
Brian Quistorff, Feb. 2104.  
https://www.econ.umd.edu/research/papers/648/download/379   

Cookstoves   

• “What Impedes Efficient Adoption of Products? Evidence from Randomized Variation in 
Sales Offers for Improved Cookstoves in Uganda,” with Theresa Beltramo, Garrick 
Blalock, Andrew Simons, and Carolyn Cotterman, 2013. CEGA working paper 14. (2016 
update at http://escholarship.org/uc/item/2cb9g10z ) 

• “Using Unobtrusive Sensors to Measure and Minimize Hawthorne Effects: Evidence 
from Cookstoves,” with Theresa Beltramo, Garrick Blalock, Andrew Simons. 

Health insurance and health shocks 

• “Prices Matter: Comparing Two Tests of Adverse Selection in Health Insurance” with 
Rachel Polemini, Working Paper 135-12, Institute for Research on Labor and 
Employment, UC Berkeley, December 2012.  
http://www.irle.berkeley.edu/workingpapers/135-12.pdf   

• “Losing the Presence and Presents of Parents: How Parental Death Affects Children” 
with Paul Gertler, Sebastian Martinez, and Stefano Bertozzi, 2007. Revision requested. 

PATENT 

“Smart Thermostat Design for the Smart Grid,” Patent Application 61/732,911, filed November 
8, 2012. (Provisional patent) 

BOOK REVIEWS AND NON-TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS 

“Design for Impact: A Development Engineering Graduate Program at UC Berkeley,” with Alice 
M. Agogino and Martha A. Lesniewski, Development Engineering, forthcoming. 

“OSHA Inspection Should be Welcome,” with Michael Toffel. The Compass, vol. 14, no. 1. 
ASSE, p. 4, 2014.  

Book review of Paying Out-of-Pocket for Drugs, Diagnostics and Medical Services: A Study of 
Households in Three Indian States, Journal of Economic Literature. June 2014: 549-550. 
[http://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jel.52.2.535] 

http://www.rand.org/pubs/working_papers/WR1039.html
https://www.econ.umd.edu/research/papers/648/download/379
http://escholarship.org/uc/item/2cb9g10z
http://www.irle.berkeley.edu/workingpapers/135-12.pdf
http://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jel.52.2.535


A Guide to Optimizing Behavior Change in Stove Programs, with Theresa Beltramo, Stephen 
Harrell, and Johanna Young. Impact Carbon, 2013. 
http://tractionproject.org/content/implementation-research-behavior-change-interventions-
improve-acquisition-and-correct-use 

Implementation Research on Behavior Change Interventions to Improve the Acquisition and 
Correct Use of Improved Cookstoves, with Theresa Beltramo, Stephen Harrell, Caitlyn Toombs 
and Johanna Young. Final report to USAID, Impact Carbon, 2013. 
http://tractionproject.org/content/guide-optimizing-behavior-change-stove-programs 

“Improving sales offers for improved stoves,” CEGA blog, January 24, 2013. 

“Renting Inefficiency,” with Lucas Davis, Energy Economics Exchange, November 26, 2012. 
[http://energyathaas.wordpress.com/2012/11/26/renting-inefficiency/] 

“Exorcising phantom power,” Los Angeles Times, November 26, 2012.  
[http://www.latimes.com/news/opinion/commentary/la-oe-levine-phantom-power-
20121126,0,6297253.story] 

“Randomized Government Safety Inspections Reduce Worker Injuries with No Detectable Job 
Loss,” testimony before the House of Representatives Subcommittee on Workforce Protections, 
Hearing on “Promoting Safe Workplaces Through Voluntary Protection Programs,” June 28, 
2012. 
[http://democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/sites/democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/files/document 
s/112/pdf/statements/6.28.12_Levine-Testimony.pdf] 

Evaluation of SKY health insurance in Cambodia 
• “Results of the Second Health Centre Survey,” with Rachel Gardner, Ian Ramage and Karen 

Zhang, 2011. 
• “Who Buys SKY Health Insurance?,” with Rachel Polimeni, Ian Ramage, and Patrick 

Searles, 2011 
• “Village Monograph Summary Report,” with Ian Ramage, Kim Hour Ramage, Eisel Mazard, 

Mark Kavenagh, and Gabriel Pictet, 2010. 
• “Health Insurance for the Rural Poor: Evidence from Cambodia,” in Innovations in Insuring 

the Poor, Ruth Vargas Hill and Maximo Torero, eds., International Food Policy Research 
Institute, Focus 17, Brief 10,Dec. 2009. 
http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/focus17_10.pdf   

• “Results of the First Health Centre Survey” with Rachel Gardner, Gabriel Pictet, Rachel 
Polimeni and Ian Ramage, 2009. 

• BASIS Brief no. 2007-05. Insuring Health: Testing the Effectiveness of Micro-health 
Insurance to Promote Economic Wellbeing for the Poor, with Nhong Hema and Ian Ramage. 
July 2007. 

“Improving Sales Offers for Improved Stoves,” Stanford Social Innovation Review blog, June 15, 
2011.  A longer version is on my website: “New Sales Offers for Improved Cookstoves,” 

http://tractionproject.org/content/implementation-research-behavior-change-interventions-improve-acquisition-and-correct-use
http://tractionproject.org/content/implementation-research-behavior-change-interventions-improve-acquisition-and-correct-use
http://tractionproject.org/content/guide-optimizing-behavior-change-stove-programs
http://cegablog.org/2013/01/24/improving-sales-offers-for-improved-stoves
http://energyathaas.wordpress.com/2012/11/26/renting-inefficiency/
http://www.latimes.com/news/opinion/commentary/la-oe-levine-phantom-power-20121126,0,6297253.story
http://www.latimes.com/news/opinion/commentary/la-oe-levine-phantom-power-20121126,0,6297253.story
http://democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/sites/democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/files/documents/112/pdf/statements/6.28.12_Levine-Testimony.pdf
http://democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/sites/democrats.edworkforce.house.gov/files/documents/112/pdf/statements/6.28.12_Levine-Testimony.pdf
http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine/papers/Results%20of%20the%20Second%20Health%20Centre%20Survey%20v5.doc
http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine/papers/Who%20buys%20SKY%20May%202011.doc
http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine/papers/SKY%20Village%20monographs%20final.doc
http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/focus17_10.pdf
http://www.basis.wisc.edu/live/Health%20Centre%20Baseline%202009.pdf
http://www.basis.wisc.edu/live/amabrief07-05.pdf
http://www.basis.wisc.edu/live/amabrief07-05.pdf
http://www.ssireview.org/opinion/entry/improving_sales_offers_for_improved_stoves/
http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/levine/papers/Summary%20of%20Fall%202010%20novel%20offer%20Feb%20%202011%20v6.doc


Briefing paper, with CIRCODU. 

“Do SMS Text Messaging and SMS Community Forums Improve Outcomes of Adult and 
Adolescent Literacy Programs? Evidence from the Jokko Initiative in Senegal.” With Theresa 
Beltramo. Final report to TOSTAN and UNICEF, September 2010. 
http://tostan.org/data/images/project%20jokko%20final%20report%20september%202010.pdf 

“Quality Management and Job Quality: How the ISO 9001 Standard for Quality Management 
Systems Affects Employees and Employers,” (Executive Summary) with Michael Toffel, Quality 
Progress, American Society for Quality, forthcoming, March 2010. 

“A New Era,” in Obama Reflections from Election Day to Presidency: Social Justice Thought 
Leaders Speak Out. Kirwan Institute, Ohio State University, 2009: 7. 

“A Note on the Impact of Local Rainfall on Rice Output in Indonesian Districts,” with Dean 
Yang, 2006. http://www-personal.umich.edu/~deanyang/papers/levineyang_ricerain.pdf 

“Perspectives on Corporate Governance: Executive Compensation” Case in Point Concept Paper, 
Caseplace.org, May 2007 
[http://www.caseplace.org/references/references_show.htm?doc_id=484244#Attachment_anchor 
], last accessed June 5, 2007. 

“Social Security Panel,” with Reuel Schiller, Peter Edelman and Thomas Davidoff, Race and 
Poverty Law Journal, 3 (2), Spring 2006: 185-202. 

“Our opportunity to end poverty -- or fail to even try,” San Francisco Chronicle, Sunday, May 
21, 2006: E3. 

“The Wheels of Washington:  Groupthink and Iraq,” San Francisco Chronicle, Thursday, 
February 5, 2004, p. A23. 
[sfgate.com/article.cgi?file=/chronicle/archive/2004/02/05/EDGV34OCEP1.DTL] 

Book review of The New Relationship: Human Capital in the American Corporation, Journal of 
Economic Literature, 40 (2), June 2002:  547-549 

Book review of Manufacturing Advantage, Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 55 (1), 
October 2001: 175-176. 

“Gilding the Ghetto,” Across the Board, Oct 1999, 36 (9): 10. 

“Knowledge Transfer: Managerial Practices Underlying One Piece of the Learning 
Organization,” with April Gilbert, COHRE briefing paper,  
[http://socrates.berkeley.edu/~iir/cohre/ knowledge.html], 1998. 

“Editorial: Overt Discrimination by Multinational Firms,” Industrial Relations, 37, 2, April 
1998, pp. 121-125. 

“Brave New Work” interview with Josh Clark, Mother Jones, July/Aug 1997. 

“The OECD’s Role in Measuring Human Capital,” background paper for the OECD, 
DEELSA/CERI//HCI (96) 6, 1996. 

“A Deficit of Clear Thinking,” with Brad DeLong, CalBusiness, Fall 1996, p. 6 

http://tostan.org/data/images/project%20jokko%20final%20report%20september%202010.pdf
http://www-personal.umich.edu/~deanyang/papers/levineyang_ricerain.pdf
http://www.caseplace.org/references/references_show.htm?doc_id=484244#Attachment_anchor
http://www.caseplace.org/references/references_show.htm?doc_id=484244#Attachment_anchor
http://sfgate.com/cgi-bin/article.cgi?file=/chronicle/archive/2004/02/05/EDGV34OCEP1.DTL
http://socrates.berkeley.edu/~iir/cohre


“Dole Tax Cuts Ignore Deficits, Investment, Education, Future,” with Brad DeLong, San Jose 
Mercury News, August 26, 1996, p. 5E. 

“Model Changes at NUMMI (A) and (B),” with Paul S. Adler and Barbara Goldoftas, teaching 
cases, USC, 1995. 

“Government Should Take Lead in Quantifying Workplace Skills,” San Jose Mercury News, 
December 25, 1995, p. 3F. 

“Not Such a Capital Idea,” with Brad DeLong, San Francisco Chronicle, December 5, 1995, p. 
A23. 

“Welfare Reform that Makes Poor Kids Poorer Will Never Pay Off,” with Brad DeLong, Los 
Angeles Times, Sunday Forum, October 15, 1995, p. D2. 

Book review of Darcy D’Art, Economic Democracy and Financial Participation, Journal of 
Economic Behavior and Organization, 1993. 

“The Quality Movement,” Dollars and Sense, September 1992, pp. 20-22.  A short version 
appeared in Cal Business, June 1992. 

“Management Education is an Oxymoron,” Cal Business Weekly, May 1992. 

Book review of Tom Korver, The Fictitious Commodity: A Study of the U.S. Labor Market 
1880-1940 for, Journal of Labor History, 32, 4, Fall 1991, pp. 624-625. 

“Participation, Productivity, and the Firm’s Environment,” California Management Review, 
Summer 1990, pp. 86-100. 

“Japan’s Other Export,” Dollars and Sense, September 1990, pp. 18-21. 

“No Voice For Workers,” with Laura D’Andrea Tyson, Dollars and Sense, no. 152, December 
1989, pp. 20-22.  Reprinted in Microeconomics 91/92, Don Cole, ed., Dushkin Publishing Group, 
Guilford CN, 1990; Real World Macro, seventh and eighth editions, and Real World Micro, third 
edition Economic Affairs Bureau, Somerville MA, 1990, 1991, and 1992. 

“Sweden: Full Employment in a Free Market Economy,” Labor Center Reporter, no. 251, 
November 1988. 

“Capitalism, Swedish Style,” Dollars and Sense, no. 140, October 1988, pp. 20-22.  Reprinted in 
Real World Macro, sixth edition, Economic Affairs Bureau, Somerville MA, 1989. 

“Why Comparable Worth Won’t Upset the Marketplace,” San Francisco Chronicle, March 7, 
1988, p. C6. 

EDUCATIONAL MATERIALS ABOUT HEALTH   

(Materials available at http://hygieneheroes.berkeley.edu) 

Curriculum   
• Unit 1: Handwashing   
• Unit 2: Safe Water 
• Unit 3: Sanitation   
• Unit 4: Preventing colds and flu 

http://hygieneheroes.berkeley.edu/


• Unit 5: Avoiding malaria   

Each unit contain vivid demonstrations, experiments, class participation stories, games, activities 
for students to do with their families (to spread safe behaviors home), and so forth. 

Stories, games, scripts and videos 
• Grandma wants you to eat cookies, illustrated by Bernadette Justine McVerry: Board 

game about water, sanitation and hygiene 
• Gerry the Germ goes to School:  Class participation story about handwashing, for ages 3-

6 
• Monster Maruti: Class participation story about traffic safety 
• Baby is Happy: An early reader about washing hands with soap 
• Baby Sleeps: An early reader about anti-mosquito bed nets   
• The Sad Tooth: An early reader about brushing teeth 
• Gerry the Germ goes to School: Comic book about handwashing   
• Tenali Rama gets in Trouble, illustrated by Jacqueline Zhou: Illustrated story about 

handwashing   
• The Monkey Prince, with Echo Yupan Lu, illustrated by Nazia Rahman: Illustrated story 

about safe water   
• Gerry the Germ gets Wet, with Benji Levine, illustrated by Jennifer Kotler: Illustrated 

story about safe water   
• Gerry the Germ, with Benji Levine, illustrated by Jennifer Kotler: Illustrated story about 

safe water, sanitation and hygiene 
• The Returns of Gerry the Germ, with Echo Yupan Lu, illustrated by Charlotte Passot: 

Illustrated story about preventing colds and flu 
• Munching Maruti, with Padma Priya: Story about traffic safety   
• The Red Fairy, by Rawan AbuShaban: Story about menstrual hygiene 
• The Bully: 3-panel comic about handwashing   
• Womb with a View: 3-panel comic about antenatal care 
• General Trouble gets Sprayed: Script about indoor residual spraying against malaria 
• The Disgusting Box (with Kaniz Janat): Video about safe water   

HONORS 

• Earl Cheit Outstanding Teaching Award, Haas School of Business, 1990 (undergraduate), 
2000 (Evening MBA). 

• Listed in Who’s Who in Economics, a selection based on citation count. 

• Listed, Who’s Who of Professionals. 

• Member, “6.0” Teaching Honor Society (for mean, or more recently median, of 6 out of 
7) several dozen times since 1988. 

• Phi Beta Kappa 



• Omicron Delta Epsilon Economics Honor Society 

• University of California Alumni Scholar 

GRANTS 

• “Replication grant.” BITSS, 2015 ($3000) 

• 2015-17, CEGA EASST, “Working with Village Health Teams to Increase ORS Use in 
Uganda: A Randomized Controlled Trial,” with Will Dow; John BoscoAsiimwe; Zachary 
Wagner, University of Makere, Uganda, EASST Collaborative, 2014-2017 ($49,000) 

• “Randomized control trial of a risk-free sample purchase for inorganic fertilizer in 
Uganda.” with Annet Adong, EPRC, Uganda, EASST Collaborative, 2014-2017 
($49,000) 

• “Distribution to the Rural Poor,” co-PI with Joseph Arineitwe Ndemere, EASST 
Collaborative, CEGA, 2012-13 ($25,000) 

• Travel grant, CEGA, 2012 ($3000) 

• “Cookstoves in Uganda”, CEGA, 2012 ($8000). 

• “Behavior Change Interventions to Improve the Acquisition and Correct Use of Improved 
Cookstoves,” (co-PI, with Impact Carbon), USAID TRAction, 2011-2013. 

• “Piloting Novel Sales Contracts,” Goggio Family Foundation, 2009-11. 

• “Courting Safe Behaviors: Testing Courtyard-based Safe Water and Hygiene 
Interventions in Urban Bangladesh” (with ICDDR,B), International Initiative for Impact 
Evaluation (3ie), 2010-2012. 

• “Improved Cookstoves in the Tumu Region of Ghana” (with CSIR and Plan-Ghana), 
International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2009-2011. 

• “Preferences for Point-of-Use Water Treatment” (with ICDDR,B), Swedish International 
Development Agency (SIDA), 2008-9. 

• “Evaluating a Telecommunications Intervention to Promote Literacy and Fight Poverty in 
Senegal” (with TOSTAN), UNICEF, 2009-10. 

• “Identification of Appropriate Postharvest Technologies for Improving Market Access 
and Incomes for Small Farmers in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia,” (with UC Davis 
and the World Food and Logistics Organization), Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, 
2009-10. 

• “Roundtable on safe stoves,” Berkeley Institute on the Environment, UC Berkeley, 2008-
9. 

• “A Randomized Controlled Trial of Solar Ovens in Senegal,” Sustainable Products and 
Services, UC Berkeley, 2008-9. 

• “A Randomized Controlled Trial of Micro-Health Insurance in Cambodia,” grants from 
BASIS Assets and Market Access Collaborative Research Support (USAID) 2007-2010; 



AFD (Agence français pour development) 2007-2010, and the Coleman Fung Foundation 
2007-2009. 

• “Choosing and Using Safe Water Products,” (with Jeff Alert of Aquaya.org), The P&G 
Fund of The Greater Cincinnati Foundation and The Blum Center for Developing 
Economies, 2007-8. 

• “Evaluating The Hunger Project’s Scaling-up of Epicenter Strategy in Ghana,” (with 
Chris Udry, Dean Karlan and John Anarfi), Robertson Foundation, 2007-2015. 

• “How Industrialization in China has affected the Elderly,” Center on the Economics and 
Demography of Aging, University of California at Berkeley, 2003-2004. 

• “Measuring Corporate Responsibility,” Haas Family Fund, 2004-6. 

• “The Effects of Age Diversity in the Workplace,” Center on the Economics and 
Demography of Aging, University of California at Berkeley, 2003-2004. 

• “Diversity at Work: Effects on Workers, Customers and Employers,” Russell Sage 
Foundation, 2003-4. 

• “Diversity and Performance,” Sloan Foundation and BOLD, with Jonathan Leonard, 
2001. 

• “A Follow-up Evaluation of the Progresa Child Welfare Program,” National Institute of 
Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), 2001-2006, with Paul Gertler and 
others. 

• “The Effects of Industrialization on Children,” Center on the Economics and 
Demography of Aging, University of California at Berkeley, 2001-2002. 

• “Financial and Social Capital as Protection Against Health Shocks in Indonesia,” Center 
for Health Research, U.C. Berkeley, 2001-02. 

• “Investments in Children in Indonesia: Lessons to be Learned from the Economic Crisis,” 
Research Bridging Grant from the Committee on Research, U.C. Berkeley, 1999-2000. 

• Subcontractor on Mortgage Lending Discrimination: What Do We Know? Urban Institute 
grant from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 1998. 

• COHRE, “Causes and Consequences of Employee Turnover,” with Jonathan Leonard, 
1998-99. 

• Sage Foundation, “Perceptions of the Fair Employment Contract: Evidence from a Quasi-
Experiment,” with Gary Charness, 1998-99. 

• Upjohn Institute, “Changes in Careers, Compensation and Internal Labor Markets at 
Large American Employers,” with Dale Belman and K.C. O’Shaughnessy, 1998-99. 

• California Commission on Health and Safety and Workers’ Compensation, “Evaluation 
of Workers’ Compensation Programs Established Pursuant to Labor-Management 
Agreements in the Construction Industry,” 1997-8. 

https://Aquaya.org


• Committee On Teaching, Office of Educational Development, U.C. Berkeley, Classroom 
Technologies Grant: 1995-1996. 

• Sloan Foundation, “What Works at Work,” with the National Center for the Workplace, 
1993-5. 

• Sloan Foundation, “Employee Involvement and Total Quality Management in the 
1990’s,” with Edward E. Lawler III, Gerald Ledford, and Susan Mohrman, 1992-4. 

• Consortium on Competition and Cooperation, “Human Resource Policies and Corporate 
Performance in the United States and Japan,” 1991-92. 

• Consortium on Competition and Cooperation, “Cooperative Supplier Relations: An Exit-
Voice Approach,” 1990-91. 

COURSES TAUGHT 

• Design, Evaluate and Scale Development Technologies (MBA, joint with Engineering & 
Alice Agogino – new course) 

• Macroeconomics   in the Global Economy (Undergraduate and MBA) 

• Business Strategies for Emerging Markets (MBA – new course) 

• Freshman seminars (new courses): 

o Behavior change in global public health: Can games and stories help?   

o The New Employment Contract   

o Films about Work   

• Bargaining and Negotiation (Undergraduate) 

• Human Resource Strategies (MBA – new course) 

• Industrial Relations (Undergraduate and Ph.D.)   

• Research Methods (Ph.D.) 

CONSULTANT 
• Government 

o U.S. Dept. of Labor 
o Mathematica (subcontract from U.S. Dept. of Labor) 
o Summit Consulting (subcontract from U.S. Dept. of Labor) 
o Abt Associates (subcontract from U.S. Dept. of Labor) 
o World Bank 
o Berkeley Planning Associates (subcontract from U.S. Dept. of Health and Human 

Services) 
o Urban Institute (subcontract from U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development) 
o CalTrans 
o OECD 



• Nonprofit sector 

o RAND (subcontract to USAID on “Increasing uptake and use of safe water filters 
at scale”) 

o Aquaya 
o Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation 
o UNICEF 
o Filene Research Institute 
o American Automobile Association   

• Private sector 
o UBS   
o Conoco 
o San Francisco Electrical Contractors Association 
o NERA 
o BPI 
o Korean Human Resources Study Group 

• Legal consultant 
o Goldman and Goldman 
o Morgenstein & Jubelirer LLP 

• Expert Witness 
o Leonard Carder, LLP (Roberts, et al., v. Best Buy Co., Inc.) 
o Gradstein, Luskin & Van Dalsem (Adams v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc.) 
o Quisenberry Law Firm (Daniel Sepulveda, Anita Perez and Antonio Prangner vs. 

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.) 
o Keker & Van Nest LLP (Tjian v. Westamerica Bancorporation) 


	Draft Agenda Packet.pdf
	Panel Packet
	June 13, 2023
	AB2849
	Promote Ownership by Workers for Economic Recovery Act
	Study Panel

	AB2849 Study Panel
	PANEL NOTICE/AGENDA

	AB2849 Study Panel
	TABLE OF CONTENTS


	Panel SOW
	Objectives
	Budget and Timeline
	Tasks
	Location and Meeting Schedule
	Travel Reimbursement
	California Public Records Act

	Study SOW
	Objectives
	Phase 1: Study design report

	Tasks

	Study Partner
	Item 6_Levine PI CV
	DAVID I. LEVINE
	EDUCATION
	EMPLOYMENT
	OTHER AFFILIATIONS
	BOOKS AND MONOGRAPHS
	OTHER ARTICLES AND BOOK CHAPTERS
	PATENT
	BOOK REVIEWS AND NON-TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS
	Evaluation of SKY health insurance in Cambodia
	“A Deficit of Clear Thinking,” with Brad DeLong, CalBusiness, Fall 1996, p. 6
	“Dole Tax Cuts Ignore Deficits, Investment, Education, Future,” with Brad DeLong, San Jose Mercury News, August 26, 1996, p. 5E.
	Curriculum
	Stories, games, scripts and videos

	HONORS
	GRANTS
	COURSES TAUGHT
	CONSULTANT




